24 Topology

Function:	Configure topology of an IFD environment
Where to Use?	Mandatory for an IFD installation
Why to Use?	The topology.xml is necessary to be able to use panels like the topology panel and the forecast panel
Description:	Topology panel is used to define the topology of an IFD environment. Also the behaviour of the forecast panel which is used to start IFD runs can be configured here.
Available since:	Delft-FEWS 2010.01

Contents

- Introduction .
- **Overview**
 - TopologyGroup.xml
- Running workflows from the topology tree
 - o localRun
 - previousNodeld
 - Secondary workflow
- Run options panel
 - Warm state selection
 - Cold state selection
 - No initial state
 - Relative period panel
 - Forecast length
 - Time zero
 - Custom info label
 - Custom colors
 - Approve forecast automatically
- Interaction with other displays
 - mainPanel and toolWindow ° Other ways of interacting with displays through the Topology configuration
 - ° Icons of the forecast tree
 - Threshold icons
 - ModifierDisplay
- Permissions
- **Buttons**
- refreshConfigAfterCompletion

Introduction

The concept of the IFD (interactive forecast displays) was introduced in 2010. A central role in the configuration of the IFD is the topology.xml. This part of the wiki explains the configuration details of the topology.xml. The Overview sections explains the background of the topology.xml. The rest of this page explains the configuration options in detail.

Overview

The topology.xml was originally designed to configure the topology of a Delft-FEWS system, which is defined by individual nodes and their connectivity. The topology can be viewed in the topology panel, which shows a block diagram of the topology, or in the forecast panel, which shows a tree view of the topology (see screenshots below).

Most Delft-FEWS systems nowadays use the topology.xml to configure the work process of the forecaster in the IFD-environment. The topology.xml is a mandatory configuration file when you are setting up an IFD-environment (Interactive Forecasting Display). The topology.xml is used to configure the behavior of the forecast panel. This will be explained in more detail in the next sections.



TopologyGroup.xml

It is possible to split the configuration of the topology in separate configuration files.

The main configuration file is always the topology.xml. The other (supporting) configuration files are the topology group files. The topology group files should be placed in the RegionConfigfiles folder. The name of a topology group file should start with TopologyGroup.

An example of a topology group file is shown below.



The defined topology groups can be used in the topology.xml by using the element <groupId>. An example is shown below.

Running workflows from the topology tree

The topology tree can be configured in the following way. The example below shows a simple topology tree with two leaf nodes A and B.

```
Both of them belong the group node C.
```

It is possible to run workflows from the topology panel. In the example below some of the node(s) have a workflow configured.

Workflows started from a **leaf node** are by default started in IFD mode (i.e. local run). The results of an IFD-run are only temporary available in FEWS (until the next restart) and are only available and visible at the operator client which started the run. IFD runs are typically used to evaluate the effect of modifiers on the results of a forecast.

Workflows started from a group node (**nodes**) are by default started as a server run. A server run will run at a FSS when it is started from an operator client. When it is started from a stand alone it will run locally but the results of the run will be available after a restart of the system.

You can change these default settings with the element <localRun>. In the example below the runs from leaf nodes A (localRun=false) and B (defaults to false) will run in server mode and the runs started from the group node C will run in IFD mode (localRun=true).

previousNodeld

It is possible to connect nodes in the topology. In the example below the node STKA2 is connected to two previous nodes (SBFQ2 and ISKQ2). The way nodes are connected plays an important role when running workflows in IFD mode.

Example previousNodeld

The example below shows the situation before the forecaster starts an IFD run for the node STKA2. The topology tree shows that this node has not run yet (icon is a black dot) and that it is connected to two previous nodes SBFQ2 and ISKQ2.



When the forecaster starts an IFD run for node STKA2 (see arrow) Delft-FEWS will detect that node STKA2 is connected to two other nodes which have to run before the run for STKA2 can be started. One of these nodes (SBFQ2) also has a previous node which has to run prior to running this node. Before running node STKA2 the IFD system will make sure that first all the necessary previous nodes are run in the correct order before node STKA2 will be run. The screenshot on the right shows the forecast tree after the run for STKA2 was finished. It shows that not only an IFD run was started for STKA2 but also for all its previous nodes.

enableAutoRun

By default the workflow on a leaf node is started automatically after selecting the node. This can be disabled by setting the option <enableAutoRun> to false. The option will apply to all nodes.

enableRunUpstreamServerNodes

For IFD (local) runs the connected previous nodes are always started before the IFD run for the selected node can be run.

For server runs the connected previous nodes are by default not taken into account. If the option <enableRunUpstreamServerNodes> is set to true the previous nodes will also be started prior to running the workflow of the selected node.

checkStatusPreviousServerRun

The option <checkStatusPreviousServerRun> can be used to force that a server run can only be started if the status of all of its previous nodes is fully successful.

enableCrossGroupNodeReferencing

Previous nodes which are connected to a node but belong to a different group in the topology tree are ignored by default when starting previous nodes for a selected node. By setting the option <enableCrossGroupNodeReferencing> to true previous nodes in a different group will also be taken into account.

Note, if the same workflow node is selected more than once, and a description is specified, then a notification dialog pops up after the OK button is clicked. If the user chooses to change the description, then the edit run options dialog comes back, and the description text would be selected (which indicates the description text is ready to be edited).

Select an optio	n	\times			
The follow Description Do you w	ving descriptior on for testing. ant to keep it? 'es <u>N</u> o	1 is specified:			
👜 Run options					
State selection					
Select initial sta	ate				
 Warm state se 	lection				
_ Warm state selec	tion				
09-09-2012 12:00)				
O Warm state					
r Warm state sear	ch interval ———				
Start:	09-0	8-2012 12:00			*
End:	09-0	9-2012 12:00			*
Forecast length					
Estimate length O Data:	00	20.2012.10:00			
O Date.	09-	29-2012 18.00	10 day		~
			10 0 00		
Single					
Dargle	4				
Workflow					
Kenai Forecast					
None					- Ir
Description					
Description for testir	g.				
Run for ensemble m	ember indices				
					_
				OK	Car

 \times

Secondary workflow

It is possible to define a secondary workflow for a node. This secondary workflow can be run by clicking the button in the button bar. Only the primary workflow determines which icon is shown in the forecast tree.

Below is an example of a node with a secondary workflow.

<node id="Copy_User_Inpu</th><th>t_series_ST_Planning_to_RT" name="Copy ST_Planning User Input series"> <workflowid>Copy_User_Input_series_ST_Planning_to_RT</workflowid> <secondaryworkflowid>Copy_User_Input_series_ST_Planning_to_RT<</secondaryworkflowid></node>	
/secondaryWorkflowId>	
	<runsecondaryworkflowatserver>false</runsecondaryworkflowatserver>
	<timeseriesbuttonspanelid>Observed</timeseriesbuttonspanelid>
	<gracetime multiplier="1" unit="hour"></gracetime>
	<localrun>true</localrun>
	<savelocalrunenabled>true</savelocalrunenabled>
	<pre><showrunapprovedforecastbutton>true</showrunapprovedforecastbutton></pre>

runSecondaryWorkflowWithTaskRunPropertiesFromIFD

The secondary workflow runs by default with the settings in the xml-file. Since the 2019.02 release however it is also possible to run the secondary workflow with the settings from the IFD.

To enable this the tag runSecondaryWorkflowWithTaskRunPropertiesFromIFD must be set to true.

popupMessageServerRun

With this option it is possible to define a message which will be shown when a server run is started from this node.

Run options panel

It is possible to manually select the task properties which will be used in the runs started from the IFD. This can be done in the panel below the forecast tree. The picture below shows an example of this panel.



The options which are shown in this panel are configurable. Each node or group of nodes in the topology can have different options.

More advanced options are available in the run options panel. This panel is started when the forecaster clicks on the edit run options button.

State selection State selection State selection State selection State selection 99-08-2012 12:00 State State State Cold state Cold state Cold state Cold state State selection State: 9-18-2012 18:00 State Forecast length State selection State length	🖄 Run options	x
♥ Select initial state ● Warm state selection Ø9-08-2012 12:00 ● Warm state Warm state search interval Start: 09-07-2012 12:00 End: 09-08-2012 12:00 ● Cold state Cold state selection Start: 09-12012 12:00 ● Cold state Cold state selection Start: 09-12012 18:00 ● Date: 09-27-2012 12:00 ● Parallel 1 ● Single Parallel ● Parallel 1 ● Stime & Wrangell (STKA2) What-if scenario Info None Info Description OK	State selection	
• Warm state selection Ø9-08-2012 12:00 • Warm state Warm state search interval Start: 09-07-2012 12:00 End: 09-08-2012 12:00 • Cold state Cold state Cold state selection Start: 09-12012 12:00 • Cold state Cold state selection Start: 09-12012 18:00 • Dete: 09-27-2012 12:00 • Date: 09-27-2012 12:00 • Date: 09-27-2012 12:00 • Date: 09-27-2012 12:00 • Porecasting shells • Single • Parallel 1 • Vorkflow Stitkine R Wrangell (STKA2) What-if scenario None OK	Select initial state	
Warm state selection 99-08-2012 12:00 Warm state Warm state Warm state Unit of the selection Start: 99-08-2012 12:00 Cold state Cold state Cold state selection Start: 99-18-2012 18:00 Forecast length Estimate length Det: 99-27-2012 12:00 Forecasting shells Single Parallel 1 Workflow Stikine R Wrangel (STKA2) What-if scenario None Info Description OK Cancel	Warm state selection	
09-08-2012 12:00 Warm state Warm state search interval Start: 09-07-2012 12:00 End: 09-08-2012 12:00 © Cold state Cold state selection Start: 09-12012 18:00 Porecast length © Estimate length ③ Date: 09-27-2012 12:00 Porecasting shells ③ Single Parallel 1⊕ Workflow Stikine R Wrangell (STKA2) What-if scenario None OK	Warm state selection	
Warm state Warm state search interval Start: 09-07-2012 12:00 End: 09-08-2012 12:00 © Cold state Cold state selection Start: 09-18-2012 18:00 Forecast length © © Estimate length ● Ø Date: 09-27-2012 12:00 Forecasting shells ● Ø Single Parallel Parallel 1 What-if scenario Info None Info Description OK	09-08-2012 12:00	▼
Warm state search interval Start: 09-07-2012 12:00 End: 09-08-2012 12:00 Cold state Cold state Cold state selection Start: 09-18-2012 18:00 Forecast length © Estimate length © Date: 09-27-2012 12:00 Forecasting shells © Single Parallel 1 Workflow Stikine R Wrangell (STKA2) What-if scenario None	🔘 Warm state	
Start: 09-07-2012 12:00 End: 09-08-2012 12:00 Cold state Cold state selection Start: 09-18-2012 18:00 Forecast length © Estimate length © Date: 09-27-2012 12:00 Forecasting shells © Single Parallel 1 Workflow Stikine R Wrangell (STKA2) What-if scenario None Info Description OK Cancel	Warm state search interval	
End: 09-08-2012 12:00 Cold state Cold state selection Start: 09-18-2012 18:00 Forecast length	Start: 0	9-07-2012 12:00
Cold state Cold state Cold state selection Start: 09-18-2012 18:00 Forecast length Cold state selection Forecast length Cold state selection Forecast length Parallel Parallel Stikine R Wrangel (STKA2) What if scenario None Info Description OK Cancel	End: 0	9-08-2012 12:00
Cold state selection Start: 09-18-2012 18:00 Forecast length Cold state selection Forecast length Date: 09-27-2012 12:00 Forecasting shells Single Parallel 1 Workflow Stikine R Wrangel (STKA2) What if scenario None None OK Cancel	Cold state	
Start: 09-18-2012 18:00	Cold state selection	
Forecast length	Start: 09-18-2012 18:00	
Forecast length Estimate length Date: 09-27-2012 12:00 Forecasting shells Single Parallel Parallel Stikine R Wrangell (STKA2) What if scenario None None OK Cancel		
Estimate length Date:	Forecast length	
Obte: O9-27-2012 12:00 Illo Illo Info Parallel Illo Vorkflow Stikine R Wrangell (STKA2) What-if scenario None Info Description OK Cancel	Estimate length	
186 hour Forecasting shells Single Parallel Norkflow Stikine R Wrangell (STKA2) What if scenario None Info Description OK Cancel OK Cancel Cancel Cancel Cancel OK Cancel Ca	Oate:	09-27-2012 12:00
Forecasting shells		186 🌩 hour 🔻
Single Parallel Info Workflow Stikine R Wrangell (STKA2) What if scenario None Info Description OK Cancel	Forecasting shells	
Parallel 1 1 Workflow Stikine R Wrangell (STKA2) What-if scenario None Info Description OK Cancel	Single	
Workflow Stikine R Wrangell (STKA2) What-If scenario None V Info Description OK Cancel	O Parallel 1	
Stikine R Wrangell (STKA2) What-if scenario None Description OK Cancel	Workflow	
None Info Description OK Cancel	Stikine R Wrangell (STKA2)	
Description OK Cancel	None	▼ Info
OK Cancel	Description	
OK Cancel		
OK Cancel		
OK Cancel		
		OK Cancel

The "edit run options" button can be disabled by setting the option <disableAdvancedButton> to true. The "edit run options" button can be disabled for a single node or a group node and its children.

In the section below several typical configuration examples are given which will be explained in detail.

Warm state selection

In a lot of systems, for example NWS systems, only the state selection is configured. The time zero will in this case be equal to the system time.

The forecast length will be determined by the forecast length estimator.

Below a screenshot of the system prior to running a node. The state selection is set to -10 days. The forecast length is not set and the time zero is equal to the system time.

🖉 🕨 🛗 🖷
APRFC
🗄 🗹 Southeast
🕀 🕕 Tanana
🖨 🗹 Canadian Yukon
• KLNQ9 Klondike River
SRFQ9 Stewart nr Mayo
SRMQ9 Stewart nr Mouth
PRXQ9 Pelly River
YWRQ9 Yukon abv White R
NIRQ9 Nisling River
WHRQ9 White River WDA00 Vulce Diverset Development
TDAQ9 YUKON River at Dawson
A North Slope
Herer Yukon (AK)
Middle Yukon (AK)
Warm state selection
09-09-2012 12:00
Time zero: 09-19-2012 18:00
Forecast length:
edit run options

After the run the forecast length which was determined by the forecast length estimator in the run is shown in the panel.

The forecaster can adjust the forecast length by using the time chooser.

٦	🚇 Forecasts 🛛 🖽 🗖 🗕	
		F
	APRFC	
	🗄 🔽 Southeast	ıl k
	🕀 🚺 Tanana	
J	Canadian Yukon	
٦	KI NO9 Klondike River	
	SRE09 Stewart nr Mayo	
	SRMQ9 Stewart nr Mouth	IP
	DRV00 Polly Pivor	11
	VMR00 Vuken shu White D	١.
	VVRQ9 Yukon abv vvnite R	
J	MIKQ9 Misling River	Ur.
	WHRQ9 White River	
	YDAQ9 YUKON River at Dawson	1Ŀ
	Hortymile	
	H Porcupine	
	🖽 🗹 Koyukuk	
	🖽 🗹 North Slope	
	🕀 🗹 Upper Yukon (AK)	
	🕀 🗹 Middle Yukon (AK)	
		1.
	Warm state selection	
	09-09-2012 12:00	
	Time zero: 00-10-2012 19:00	
	Time 2010, 09-19-2012 10:00	
	Forecast length: 09-27-2012 12:00	
	edit run options	

It is possible to disable the possibility to edit the forecast length by using the option <useForecastLengthFromInteractiveForecastDisplay>.

An configuration example is shown below.

When the system time changes the selected state will also change so the relative time compared to time zero will stay the same.

Warm state selection period

The option warm state selection period can be used to set the state selection to a period (relative to the system time) in which the system will search for a warm state.

An example of a node which is configured with a warm state search period is given below.



A configuration example is given below.

Cold state selection

It is also possible to set the default state selection for a node or a group of nodes to a cold state selection.

		-	-1	
🚇 Forecasts			E 🗆 🗕	Θ
Import and Preprocess Da	ta			
Historical Station Data				
PRISM				
Observation Times				
🗐 🏭 Stations				
• PXPP				0
MAP_EstimateH MAP_TimeDistri	burly			52
MAP_TIMEDIStri	DuteDaily			1
MAP_EstimateD	aily			Y.
😐 퉬 Areal				1
🔠 🖶 🌽 Temperature				. 3
Calibration				K,
WAPN6HUD				1
Waterbal_MY				
Waterbal_WY StateME				<u>~</u>
StatQME Peakflow				
- + ICP				
🗄 퉬 CN FeatherYuba Calb				
Cold state selection				
Start: 10-01-1961 00:00:00			÷ 🖻	
Time zero: 10-01-2012 00	:00:00			
Forecast length:				k
edit run op	tions			€
🚇 Logs				
06-00-0010-07-00-04 INIEO - Dotri	wing config	uration	from evete	mre

An configuration example is given below.

Cold state from current run

To set the state selection at a node to the cold state selection which was used in another run the option <coldStateFromCurrentRun> can be used.

```
Below a configuration example
```

In the example above the cold state which was used in the current run from workflow "Tweed URBS IFD forecast" will be used.

It is possible to define a default state selection for the cases that a current run is not available yet. In the example above this default is set to a cold state selection of 2 days before time zero.

If time zero changes the cold state selection should also change to keep the relative period the same.

Fix cold state selection

With the fixedColdState option, the cold state can be fixed to a selected dateTime by the user in the GUI by selecting the checkbox "Keep cold state at current selection". This fixed coldState is inherited by the downstream nodes.

Note: When a user selects the option to fix a cold state to a certain date/time then this will only impact the local client. Only when the user starts a server run for this node the changes (modifiers) will be send to the server and impact the other users.

🔤 Forecast Tree 🛛 🗖 🗕	🖾 Forecast Tree 🛛 🗖 🗕	Node: Save Barron
> 🖹 🛱 🖉 🛆		Mod type Name Summary
Import and Process Reporting Barron URBS model Select Barron rainfall set Tinaroo Save Barron Select Barron rainfall what-if scenario run Tinaroo (what-if) Save Barron (what-if) Save Barron (what-if) Trun Barron (NWP ensemble) Rundskin UBEC model	 Import and Process Reporting Barron URBS model Select Barron rainfall set Tinaroo Save Barron Select Barron rainfall what- in Tinaroo (what-if) Save Barron (what-if) run Barron (NWP ensemb 	Fixed cold state coldStateModifier coldStateDatetime=27-02-20
Cold state selection Start: 03-03-2023 18:00:00	Cold state selection Start: 27-02-2023 18:00:00	URBS model parameters URBS model parameters Name URBS model parameters
edit run options	edit run options	Map

To enable this option, you need to configure a few files (config examples are give below):

- Topology.xml
 - o <fixedColdState>, which defines the location attribute modifier in FEWS to store the selected cold state:
 - IocationId: location the modifiers will be made.
 - modifierTypeId: refers to modifier type id as defined in ModifierTypes.xml
 - fixedColdStateLocationAttributeId: attribute in which the selected cold state dateTime is stored. This is a date/time attribute.
 - fixedcoldStateGroupLocationAttributeId: attribute in which the cold state group is stored. This is a text attribute.
 - <workflowld>, which should refer to a workflow including the locationId mentioned above
- ModifierTypes.xml
- <locationAttributeModifier> to define the modifierTypeId as referenced in the Topology
 <modifiersGroup> (optional) if you make use of modifiersGroup make sure to list the locationAttributeModifier id here as well LocationSets.xml
 - ° <attribute> to add both cold state attributes to the relevant locations
 - ° <dateTimePattern> to define the format of the dateTime attribute
- basins.csv
 - ° add column to create (empty) attributes as defined in locationSets.xml

Note: the location for which the fixedColdState is configured needs to be part of the workflow which is connected to that topology node.

Topology.xml
<node id="coldRelativeStateStartTimeNode"></node>
<workflowid>workflowId></workflowid>
<coldstate multiplier="6" unit="hour"></coldstate>
<fixedcoldstate></fixedcoldstate>
<locationid>basinA</locationid>
<modifiertypeid>coldStateModifier</modifiertypeid>
<fixedcoldstatelocationattributeid>coldStateDateTime<</fixedcoldstatelocationattributeid>
/fixedColdStateLocationAttributeId>
<fixedcoldstategrouplocationattributeid>coldStateGroup<</fixedcoldstategrouplocationattributeid>
/fixedColdStateGroupLocationAttributeId>

ModifierTypes.xml

LocationSets.xml

```
<locationSet id="basins">
                <csvFile>
                        <file>basins.csv</file>
                        <geoDatum>WGS 1984</geoDatum>
                        <id>%BASIN%</id>
                        <name>%SHORT_NAME%</name>
                        <dateTimePattern>yyyy-mm-dd HH:mm</dateTimePattern>
                        <x>0</x>
                        <y>0</y>
                        <z>0</z>
                        <attribute id="coldStateDatetime">
                                <dateTime>%coldStateDatetime%</dateTime>
                        </attribute>
                        <attribute id="coldStateGroup">
                                <text>%coldStateGroup%</text>
                        </attribute>
                </csvFile>
        </locationSet>
```

basins.csv

BASIN, SHORT_NAME, coldStateDatetime, coldStateGroup basinA, basinA, , basinB, basinB, ,

coldStateStartTime

Alternatively, a fixed coldStateStartTime (available since 2019.02) can be configured. This dateTime is hardcoded in the xml, and can not be changed by the user.

```
<nodes id="WAPN6HUD_calb" name="WAPN6HUD">
<workflowId>WAPN6HUD_Stats_Calibration</workflowId>
<coldStateStartTime date="2019-01-01" />
<node id="WAPN6HUD_Waterbalance_Multi-year" name="Waterbal_MY">
```

No initial state

The option <noInitialState> can be used to disable the state selection for a node so that the state will be selected by the workflow.

An example of a node which has this option enabled is shown below.

🚇 Forecasts 🛛 🖽 🗆	1 [
> • • • •	
APREC	
Southeast	-
SRYA2 Situk R nr Yakutat	
 ALSQ9 Alsek R abv Bates R 	
TATQ9 Tatshenshini River	
ALKA2 Alsek R nr Yakutat	
 CKTA2 Chilkat R at Klukwan 	
TYAA2 Taiya R at Skagway	
SKGA2 Skagway R at Skagway	
MCAA2 Montana Cr Auke Bay	
MNDA2 Mendenhall Lake MNDA2 Mendenhall D at Park Lase	
 MINBAZ Menderinali R at Back Loop DCA2 Jordan Crook 	
TKUA2 Taku River nr Juneau	
SGC02 Stikine Grand Canvon	Ξ
STTO2 Stikine R Telegraph	
SBF02 Stikine R Butterfly	
ISKO2 Iskut R blw Johnson	
STKA2 Stikine R Wrangell	
SCKA2 Staney Cr nr Klawock	
🖶 🕕 Tanana	
🕀 🗹 Canadian Yukon	
🖶 🗹 Fortymile	
🕀 🗹 Porcupine	
Koyukuk	
Morth Slope	
Upper Yukon (AK)	
Middle Yukon (AK)	
Connor	
H Kenai	
Southwest	-
Warm state selection	
	-
Time zero: 00-10-2012 19:00	-
Forecast length: 00-27-2012 12:00	<u>م</u>
09-27-2012 12:00	-
edit run options	

A configuration example is given below.

Relative period panel

When the forecaster wants to run a workflow for a certain period of time then the relative period panel is a good option to use. The picture below shows an example of the relative period panel.

A Forecasts	FH
 Test Data Import test files Preparation Preparation (Manual-Live System Only) Real-Time Data Short Term Planning (ensemble) Short Term Max.Planning Short Term Day Ahead Capacity Short Term Day Ahead LLH Import Maintenance 	
Start time: 04-11-2018 07:00:00	
Cal time: 04-11-2018 07:00:00	
End time: 05-11-2018 07:00:00	=

This option is used, for example, in the HERMES-system. Below a configuration example:

When the system time is changed then the start time and end time will also change so that the relative period will stay the same for a topology node.

It is possible to force the initial start time and end time to match a certain time step. This can be done by using the options <initialStartTimeCardinalTimeStep> and <initialEndTimeCardinalTimeStep>.

To force user edits to the start and/or end time to a certain time step the options <cardinalTimeStepStartTime> and <cardinalTimeStepEndTime> can be used.

If the option <initialStartTimeCardinalTimeStep> is used then the start time will not change when the system time changes. The same applies for the end time and the option <initialEndTimeCardinalTimeStep>.

A configuration example is shown below.

```
<node id="Process" name="Process Data">
        <previousNodeId>Import</previousNodeId>
        <workflowId>ProcessImports</workflowId>
        <relativePeriod unit="day" start="-10" end="-5"/>
        <cardinalTimeStepStartTime unit="hour" multiplier="6"/>
        <initialStartTimeCardinalTimeStep unit="hour"/>
        <cardinalTimeStepEndTime unit="hour" multiplier="6"/>
        <initialEndTimeCardinalTimeStep unit="hour"/>
        <localRun>false</localRun>
</node>
```

Relative period panel with only a start time

It is possible to a create a relative period panel in which the end time is hidden.

Below an example of such a panel.

🚇 Forecasts	∈ -
) 🗎 🗣 🗣	
Test Data Import test files Preparation Real-Time Short Term Planning (ensemble) Short Term Max.Planning Short Term Max.Planning Short Term Max.Planning Short Term Day Ahead Capacity Short Term Day Ahead LLH Import Maintenance	
Start time: 05-01-2018 07:00:00	

This panel can be configured in the following way.

Forecast length

To set the forecast length at a fixed length the option <forecastLength> can be used.

It is possible to force the end time of the forecast (time zero plus forecast length) to match a certain time step by using the option <initialForecastLengthCardinalTimeStep>.

The end time of a node is only forced to match this time step when the user selects the node for the first time.

To force the end time of a node to match a certain time step when the forecaster tries the edit the default forecast length the option <cardinalTimeStepForecastLength> can be used.

By default the end time of a node changes when the system time changes so that the forecast length stays the same.

However if for a node the option <initialForecastLengthCardinalTimeStep> is configured then the end time of the node stays the same if the time zero changes.

A configuration example of a node for which a forecast length, an <initialForecastLengthCardinalTimeStep> and a <cardinalTimeStepForecastLength> is configured is shown below.

<node ic<="" th=""><th>d="B10_Main_RTC" name="Run model"></th></node>	d="B10_Main_RTC" name="Run model">
	<workflowid>Big10_RTCTools_RT</workflowid>
	<forecastlength multiplier="24" unit="hour"></forecastlength>
	<cardinaltimestepforecastlength unit="hour"></cardinaltimestepforecastlength>
	<initialforecastlengthcardinaltimestep multiplier="6" unit="hour"></initialforecastlengthcardinaltimestep>
	<pre><displaygroupid>Main_RT-RTC</displaygroupid></pre>
	<timeseriesbuttonspanelid>RT_buttons_Main</timeseriesbuttonspanelid>
	<viewpermission>execute</viewpermission>
	<visiblemodifiergroup>RT</visiblemodifiergroup>
	<gracetime multiplier="1" unit="hour"></gracetime>
	<localrun>true</localrun>
	<savelocalrunenabled>true</savelocalrunenabled>
	<pre><showrunapprovedforecastbutton>true</showrunapprovedforecastbutton></pre>

Below a screenshot of this node after it is selected for the first time is shown.



The end time of the run (forecast length) was first set to time zero plus 24 hours. Because this time wasn't a valid time for the configured

<initialForecastLengthCardinalTimeStep> the end time was set to first valid time prior to the end time.

Below a screenshot of the same node after the system time was changed. The time zero is changed but the end time of the node is still fixed at the same time.

Porecasts	∈□ -				
 Test Data Import test files Preparation Preparation (Manual-Live System Only) Real-Time Observed data Copy ST_Planning User Input series Big10 Main RTC-Tools RiverWare (RBS) RiverWare (Opt) Publish SpecialPublish ExportDataToLocal_Special Short Term Planning Short Term Man.Planning Short Term Man.Planning Short Term Day Ahead Capacity Maintenance 					
Warm state selection					
Time zero: 05-11-2018 08:00:00					
Forecast length: 05-12-2018 05:00:00	-				
edit run options					

Time zero

By default the time zero of a node is equal to the system time and not editable.

It is possible to make the time zero editable and to set it to a fixed date/time.

The code snippet below shows a configuration example.

To make the time zero editable and/or to shift the time zero compared to the system time the option <timeZeroShift> can be used.

```
<nodes id="WaterOrder HADT1" name="Water Order Apalachia">

<timeZeroShift unit="hour" multiplier="0"/>

<node id="WaterOrder_HADT1" name="Adjust Water Order">

<locationId>HADT1</locationId>

<workflowId>CalculateSpill_WaterOrder_HADT1</workflowId>
```

If the shift is set to 0 then the time zero will be editable but equal to the system time.

Custom info label

It is possible to define a custom info label which be shown (if configured) below the run options.

Warm state sel	ection					
		~				
Time zero:	04-22-2013 07:00:00					
Forecast length:	05-19-2013 24:00:00	÷ 💿				
This is an exampl	e! first attribute: 04-23-2013 17:00:00 second attribute: false					
edit run options						

It is possible to use location attribute in the custom info label. if a value is modified it will be colored blue.

Below a configuration example.

```
<node id="Big10_RUN_Riverware_ST_Planning" name="Riverware (RBS) test">
                                <workflowId>Big10_RiverWare_ST_Planning</workflowId>
                                <displayGroupId>ST_P_Big10_SUM_Riverware</displayGroupId>
                                <timeSeriesButtonsPanelId>ST_BASIN_buttons</timeSeriesButtonsPanelId>
                                <customInfoLabel>
                                                <labelText>This is an example! first attribute:
@wMarketChoice_RT@ second attribute: @SPILL_PRIORITY_RT@</labelText>
                                                <locationId>BPA</locationId>
                                                <overrulingUnmodifiedDateTimeAttributeValue>
                                                        <attributeId>wMarketChoice RT</attributeId>
                                                        <offset unit="day" multiplier="1"/>
                                                        <timeStep unit="day"/>
                                                </overrulingUnmodifiedDateTimeAttributeValue>
                                </customInfoLabel>
                                <graceTime unit="hour" multiplier="5"/>
                                <localRun>true</localRun>
                                <saveLocalRunEnabled>true</saveLocalRunEnabled>
                                <showRunApprovedForecastButton>true</showRunApprovedForecastButton>
</node>
```

It a date/time attribute is not modified the default value will be shown. It is also possible to configure an overruling value if the date/time attribute is unmodified.

This can be done by using the overrulingUnmodifiedDateTimeAttributeValue. The value can be configured by defining an offset and a time step.

The overruling value will be determined by adding the configured offset to the time zero of the node and setting the determined time to the first valid time of the defined time step.

Custom colors

You can configure the text and background color(selected and non-selected). These are optional fields, you can configure all, none, or some. These properties can be configured on individual nodes and group nodes. Feature available since 2019.02.

Example:

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="UTF-8"?>
<!-- edited with XMLSpy v2009 spl (http://www.altova.com) by ICT (Stichting Deltares) -->
<topology xmlns="http://www.wldelft.nl/fews" xmlns:xsi="http://www.w3.org/2001/XMLSchema-instance"
                  xsi:schemaLocation="http://www.wldelft.nl/fews https://fewsdocs.deltares.nl/schemas/version1.0
/topology.xsd">
        <enableAutoRun>false</enableAutoRun>
        <nodes id="Tasks">
                <node id="Import" name="Import">
                        <workflowId>Import</workflowId>
                        <backgroundSelectionColor>forest green</backgroundSelectionColor>
                        <backgroundNonSelectionColor>pale green4</backgroundNonSelectionColor>
                </node>
                <node id="Transformation" name="Transformation">
                        <workflowId>Transformation</workflowId>
                        <textSelectionColor>gray18</textSelectionColor>
                        <textNonSelectionColor>dark salmon</textNonSelectionColor>
                </node>
                <node id="CanadaMeteo" name="CanadaMeteo">
                        <workflowId>CanadaMeteo</workflowId>
                        <backgroundSelectionColor>light yellow3</backgroundSelectionColor>
                        <backgroundNonSelectionColor>turquoise3</backgroundNonSelectionColor>
                        <textSelectionColor>yellow</textSelectionColor>
                        <textNonSelectionColor>red</textNonSelectionColor>
                </node>
                <node id="NoosImport" name="NoosImport">
                        <workflowId>NoosImport</workflowId>
                        <textSelectionColor>vellow</textSelectionColor>
                        <backgroundNonSelectionColor>light pink2</backgroundNonSelectionColor>
                </node>
                <node id="RotterdamPort" name="RotterdamPort">
                        <workflowId>RotterdamPort</workflowId>
                        <textNonSelectionColor>peach puff</textNonSelectionColor>
                </node>
                <node id="KiwisImport" name="KiwisImport">
                        <workflowId>KiwisImport</workflowId>
                </node>
                <node id="TaoGrid" name="TaoGrid">
                        <workflowId>TaoGrid</workflowId>
                        <backgroundNonSelectionColor>cornsilk</backgroundNonSelectionColor>
                </node>
                <node id="MunisenseImport" name="MunisenseImport">
                        <workflowId>MunisenseImport</workflowId>
                </node>
                <backgroundSelectionColor>light yellow3</backgroundSelectionColor>
                <backgroundNonSelectionColor>turquoise3</backgroundNonSelectionColor>
                <textSelectionColor>yellow</textSelectionColor>
                <textNonSelectionColor>red</textNonSelectionColor>
        </nodes>
</topology>
```

Approve forecast automatically

A run started from the IFD is by default automatically approved. Only when the configurator defines in the workflow descriptors that the workflow should not be automatically approved the forecast is not automatically approved.

When the config option **enableAutoApprove** is used and set to true, an Approve checkbox will appear on the run options panel. With this checkbox the forecaster can determine if the forecast should be approved automatically after the run. When defining enableAutoApprove=false, the default IFD behaviour is followed with the checkbox hidden.

The initial value of the check box is determined by the autoApprove setting of the workflowDescriptor.

Note: the Approve check box will never appear if allowApprove=false in workflowDescriptor. In this case the inconsistency between the autoApprove setting of the topology and the workflowDescriptor is flagged in a Config.Warn.

```
<nodes id="exampleGroupNode">
    <workflowId>workflowA</workflowId>
    <enableAutoApprove>true</enableAutoApprove>
    <node id="exampleChildNode">
        <workflowId>workflowB</workflowId>
    </node>
</node>
```

Interaction with other displays

The forecast panel interacts with the other panels in Delft-FEWS in a lot of ways. The following options will automatically open a display when the configured node in the Topology is selected.

mainPanel and toolWindow

It is possible to define which panel or tool window(s) should be made visible after selecting a node, using the elements <mainPanel> and <toolWindow>. These elements support only selected displays c.q. toolWindows which are enumerated in the Topology schemas.

displayConfigFileName

Since the 2020.01 release an element <displayConfigFileName> can be used, to make visible a display associated with the configured displayConfigFile name. This method supports any display that has displayConfigFile. If the display is not running yet, the display will be automatically launched. For some displays it is also possible to configure a reference to the component that should be selected when the display becomes visible. Presently the following component references are supported :

- SystemMonitor : an option <tabld> to select a specific tab. If no tabld is configured, the Log Browser tab will be selected
- SchematicStatusDisplay (SSD): an option cpanelId> to open a specific SSD panel. If no panelId is configured, or if a non-existing panelId is entered, the first SSD panel will be opened

explorerTaskName

Since the 2021.02 release it is also possible to configure <explorerTaskName>, which would refer to the name attribute of explorerTask (for example <explorerTask name="Spatial Display">) configured in Explorer.xml.

gridDisplaySelection

Since the 2023.01 release it is also possible to configure a gridDisplaySelection. This will open the spatial display and select the configured groupId > plotId in the tree

displayGroupId and selectFirstPlotOnSelectionChange

The element <displayGroupId> can be used to connect a topology node to a display group. The plot overview panel shows an overview of all the displays in the display group.

After selecting a topology node Delft-FEWS will first try to find a display which has the same location and parameter as currently displayed in the connected display group. If such a display cannot be found the first display of the topology group will be shown. This behavior can be disabled by using the element <selectFirstPlotOnSelectionChange>. If this option is set to true the first plot will always be selected.

scadaDisplayPanelld

To navigate SSD (scada) displays using topology nodes, specific elements can be added for opening a specific SSD display and/or panel when a node is selected.

Since the 2020.01 release also the elements <displayConfigFileName> and <panelld> can be used to make the SSD visible. For more information, see the section about configuration of Schematic Status Displays (a.k.a. Scada displays).

<url> and web browser display

The option <url> can be used to configure an URL for each node. After selecting the node the URL will be displayed automatically in the web browser display.

timeSeriesButtonPanelld

(Since 2014.01) Reference to time series button panel that becomes visible when this topology node is activated. For this functionality you need to configure the time series button panel in Explorer.xml and add 17 TimeSeriesButtonsPanels to the DisplayConfigFiles.

Config examples

Examples from Topology.xml c.q. TopologyGroup.xml are shown below.

Config example <mainPanel>, <toolWindow> and <displayConfigFileName>

```
Config example <mainPanel>, <toolWindow> and <displayConfigFileName>
<node id="Coastal_Scenario" name="Create Coastal Scenario">
          <workflowId>Coastal_Scenario</workflowId>
           <mainPanel>modifiers panel</mainPanel>
           <toolWindow>plot overview</toolWindow>
<!-- After selecting a node in the topology a plot connected to this node will be automatically displayed in
the plot window. -->
</node>
<node id="Fluvial_Scenario" name="Create Fluvial Scenario">
            <workflowId>Fluvial_Scenario</workflowId>
            <displayConfigFileName>MySSDConfigFile</displayConfigFileName>
            <panelId>panel3</panelId>
</node>
<node id="ImportObserved" name="Import observations">
           <workflowId>ImportObservations</workflowId>
            <displayConfigFileName>MySystemMonitorDisplayConfigFile</displayConfigFileName>
           <tabId>importStatus</tabId>
</node>
```

Config example <gridDisplaySelection>

Topology: gridDisplaySelection

```
<node id="nodeId">
<gridDisplaySelection>
<groupId>groupId</groupId>
<plotId>plotId</plotId>
</gridDisplaySelection>
</node>
```

This will open the spatial display and select the groupId > plotId in the tree, e.g. 'Kriging' > 'Kriging Precipitation (Last Week)'



Config example <scadaDisplayPanelId>

```
<nodes id="SSD_NL" name="SSD NL">
<node id="Overview_WMCN" name="Overview Nederland">
<mainPanel>schematic status display</mainPanel>
<scadaDisplayId>ScadaOverview_WMCN</scadaDisplayId>
<scadaPanelId>Overview_WMCN</scadaPanelId>
</node>
<node id="Forecast_WMCN" name="Forecast Nederland">
<mainPanel>schematic status display</mainPanel>
<scadaDisplayId>ScadaOverview_WMCN</scadaDisplayId>
<scadaDisplayId>ScadaOverview_WMCN</scadaDisplayId>
<scadaPanelId>Forecast_WMCN</scadaPanelId>
</node>
</nodes>
```

Other ways of interacting with displays through the Topology configuration

mapExtentId

To automatically select a zoom extent in the map after selecting a node, the element <mapExtentId> can be used.

filterId

To automatically select a filter after selecting a node the element <filterId> can be used. By default the parameters in the filters will not be selected automatically. If the parameters selected by the user still are present in the new filter, they will remain selected. To enable that all the parameters will also be selected automatically the option <enableAutoSelectParameters> should be set to true. To enable that no parameters will be selected, i.e., the parameter selection will be automatically cleared, the option <enableAutoClearParameters> should be set to true (available since 2018.02).

enableSelectNodesFromMap

The element <enableSelectNodesFromMap> is a configuration option which applies to all nodes. With this option set to true, the user can select nodes in the topology tree by selecting locations on the map. For this to work, you need to also configure at least one <locationId> and a <filterId> at each node which you would like to be able to select from a map. If the user first selects the configured filter in the Data Viewer, and then next selects (one of) the location(s) on the map, the corresponding node in the topology will be opened and the IFD will get the focus. It is possible to configure one or more locationId>.

forecasterHelperDirectories

The element <forecasterHelperDirectories> is a configuration option which applies to all nodes. It can be used to define in which directories the forecaster helper should look for files. See for more info: 23 Interactive Forecasting Displays#23InteractiveForecastingDisplays-Forecasterhelp(akaDocumentViewer)

By default, the <ForecasterNotesDisplay> shows the notes for the the node (and its parent) that is selected by the user in the Topology GUI. This list of forecast notes can be extended with the notes that are created for the node with option <alwaysVisibleInForecasterNotes> is set to true.

areald and the Archive panel

An <areald> can be configured for a topology node. This configuration option is used in combination with the archive panel. After selecting a node with an area id configured the area selection in the archive panel will be set to the area id of the selected node.

Icons of the forecast tree

The icons of the forecast tree are explained in detail in this chapter 23 Interactive Forecasting Displays#23InteractiveForecastingDisplays-Forecasttree

Grace time

The icons in the topology tree can be used to view the status of node. The icon show if a workflow has run for that node and what status of that run is.

A green or blue icon indicate that the workflow was successful. The icons also indicate if the time zero which was used in the last run of a node is the same as the time zero which is currently selected for a node.

If the time zero is different then the icon will indicate that the available run is invalid. In systems which have a small cardinal time step this behavior can be problematic because runs are marked as being invalid too quickly.

The element <graceTime> can be used to introduce a grace time for the time zero was used in a run. If the difference between the time zero for a node and the time zero which was used in the last run is less then the grace time then the run will still be marked as valid.

useStatusParentNode

If the status of a topology node is determined by a server run and its parent node has a more recent server run then the node will inherit the status from its parent. If this is set to false, then the server run of the parent node will be ignored.

Threshold icons

(Since 2019.02 release) Location threshold icons can be added to the Forecast Tree (Topology). In Delft-FEWS thresholds are configured in the Thresholds.xml and ThresholdValueSets.XML. The Thresholds.xml file contains the thresholds and the thresholdValueSets the time series that are used for thresholds. The time series have a RelativeViewPeriod configured that is used to find threshold crossings relative to the FEWS system time.

In the Topology.xml a node can have a locationId element and a thresholdValueSetId element configured. The Topology will then check if for this location a threshold, included in the thresholdValueSetId has a threshold crossed in the configured Relative View Period. The threshold icons can be visualised by pressing the threshold icon in the toolbar of the Topology.

ModifierDisplay

showModifiers

The option is only available at group nodes. By default the modifiers panel doesn't show modifiers at group nodes. This choice was made because of performance reasons.

In addition it is not common that modifiers are made at group nodes. In the cases that it is required that modifiers can be shown (and edited) at a group node the default behaviour can be

changed. This option is only available at group nodes.

hideModifiersOverviewPanel

The modifiers panel consists of two parts. An overview panel which shows all the modifiers which are available for the selected node and a detail panel which shows the details of the modifier which is selected in the overview panel or the new modifier which the user is creating.

The overview panel uses the half of the space of the modifiers panel. By hiding this panel, a lot of space is available for the detail panel. This is a useful feature when users only create modifiers at a node and want to use all the available space for the detail panel.

modifiersReadOnly

This option can be used to disable the possibility to add, edit or delete modifiers at a node.

defaultModifierId

If a default modifier id is defined at a node then the first available modifier of the defined type will be selected in the modifiers panel. If there is no modifier of this type is available then a new modifier template is created in the modifiers detail panel. An example is shown below.

🚇 Forecast Tree 🛛 🗖 🗕	Mod type	Name		Summary	In	cations	St	tart
🖉 🕂 😽 💺 🖉 🔾	nou cipe			ourner,		cations		
Import Observed Dat								
Import Enrecast Data								
Process Water Level								
Process Rainfall Obs								
Process Meteo Forer								
Catchment Interpola								
Map Model Paramete								
🗄 🚹 Update Client								
🕀 🚹 Archive								
🗐 🔒 New South Wales								
📄 퉬 201 - Tweed River B								
QC and Process c								
Generate data tal _								
📄 🌗 URBS - Tweed 🦈								
Set Tide Fore								
Run all model								
Tweed River								
Oxley River t								
Iweed River								
Rous River to								
Lower I wee								
Save as Final								
Bup Bainfall								
Savo as What	URBS							
Save as what Ensemble Rai								
Peak Heights - Ty	Modifier Propertie	es: URBS						
Post Flood Activit								
1 202 - Brunswick Basi	Name URBS							
1 203 - Richmond-Wils								
1 204 - Clarence River	URBS Loss model	URBS Rout	ing URBS N	1atching				
🗄 🚺 205 - Bellinger and N								
🕀 🌆 206 - Macleay River	attribute		tweed_uki	tweed_eungella	tweed_murwillumbah	tweed_boat	tweed_chindera	h
🕀 🌗 207 - Hastings and C	URBS Loss Model	Туре	ILCL 🔻	ILCL 🔻	ILCL 🔻	ILCL 🔻	ILCL	-
🕀 🎍 208 - Manning River	Initial Loss (mm)		60.0	60.0	60.0	60.0	60	.0
🕀 🍌 209 - Karuah River B	Continuing Loss (r	nm/hr)	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2	.0
🕀 🕌 210 - Hunter River B	Proportional Runo	ff (fraction)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0	.0
🕀 🍌 211 - Macquarie-Tuc	Infiltration Capacit	ty (mm)	1.0E31	1.0E31	1.0E31	1.0E31	1.0E3	31
🕀 📕 212 - Nepean-Hawke	Maximum initial lo	iss (mm)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0	.0
🗄 🌗 213 - Sydney Coast- 🍸	Recovering Initial	Loss Factor	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0	.0
	Inflitration Recove	ry kate	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0	.0
Cold state selection								
Cold States(Default)								
Charles Cat 16 06 2010								

In the example above a node "Run all Models" is shown. This node has a defaultModifierId defined and set to URBS.

After selecting the node "Run all models" a modifiers template for the modifiers type "URBS" will be created. The user can edit this template and create a new modifier by pressing apply.

Below an another example:

In this example the user has selected the same node. The difference with the previous example is that there is already a modifier of type URBS available.

Because this modifier is available it will be selected instead of creating a new modifiers template.

onlyAllowEditDefaultModifier

If this option is configured only the defined default modifier is editable.

visibleModifierGroup

This option defines the group of modifiers which is visible and editable at a node. It is possible to define multiple visible modifier groups for a node. By default all modifiers are visible and editable.

The modifier group should be defined in the modifierTypes.xml.

popupMessageUncommittedModifiers

This option can be used to define a warning message which will be shown when a user leaves a topology node with uncommitted modifiers.

modifiersIconVisible

Configure option <modifiersIconVisible>true</modifiersIconVisible> at the beginning of the Topology.xml to show an indicator for active modifiers. This indicator is continuously visible and appears as soon as an modifier is created or activated. The indicator is displayed at the leaf segments. The group segments do not show this indicator.



Permissions

There are several configurations options available with regard to permissions.

viewPermission

This permission controls who can view this node

runWorkflowLocallyPermission

Permission to run the workflow for a node locally

runWorkflowAtServerPermission

Permission to run the workflow for a node at the server

runSecondaryWorkflowPermission

Since 201801. Permission to run the secondary workflow

Buttons

Details about the buttons can be found here: 23 Interactive Forecasting Displays#23InteractiveForecastingDisplays-Buttonbar

enableOriginalButtons

At the top of the forecast panel a group of buttons is shown. The first Delft-FEWS applications which used the forecast panel had a button panel which had 6 buttons (see left screenshot).

The reduce the number of buttons which were shown in this panel a new design for this button panel was made that offered the same functionality but had less buttons (see right screenshot).

By default the new button panel is shown. With <enableOriginalButtons> you can instead use the button panel with 6 buttons.



hideModifiersButton and hideTresholdsButton

In the default setting modifier and threshold buttons are visible. They can be hidden by adding hideModifiersButton and hideThresholdsButton to the Topology config. An config example is shown below.

saveLocalRunEnabled

The element <saveLocalRunEnabled> can be used to allow the user to promote a local IFD run to a permanent server run.

If this element is set to true for the selected node and an IFD run is available for the selected node the save-button in the button bar will be enabled.

showRunApprovedForecastButton

The element <showRunApprovedForecastButton> can be used to enable the user to start server runs from nodes for which the option <localRun> is set to true.

This means that users can start IFD-runs from that node but also server runs.

showMacroButton

The element <showMacroButton> can be used to enable a button in the Run options dialog which allows the user to start a run with pre-defined task properties.

refreshConfigAfterCompletion

Reloading configuration. If the FEWS client type Computational Framework is, it is possible to automatically reload the FEWS configuration after a workflow is successfully run via adding <refreshConfigAfterCompletion>, as shown in the above example.